# **Carbonyl-Coupling Reactions Using Low-Valent Titanium**

### JOHN E. MCMURRY

Department of Chemistry, Baker Laboratory, Cornell University, Ithaca, New York 14853

Received December 15, 1988 (Revised Manuscript Received February 26, 1989)

### Contents

Ι.	Introduction	1513	
II.	Reagents Used for Carbonyl Coupling		
III.	. Mechanism of the Carbonyl-Coupling Reaction		
	A. The Organic Part	1514	
	B. The Inorganic Part	1515	
IV.	Scope of the Carbonyl-Coupling Reaction	1515	
	A. Functional-Group Compatibility	1515	
	1. Compatible Functional Groups	1515	
	2. Semicompatible Functional Groups	1516	
	3. Incompatible Functional Groups	1517	
	B. Intramolecular Carbonyl Couplings	1517	
	C. Mixed Coupling Reactions	1518	
۷.	Uses of the Carbonyl-Coupling Reaction	1518	
	A. Synthesis of Strained Olefins	1518	
	B. Synthesis of Unusual Molecules	1519	
	C. Synthesis of Natural Products	1522	
VI.	Keto Ester Couplings	1522	
VII.	Conclusions		

## I. Introduction

Some years ago, we<sup>1</sup> and two other groups<sup>2,3</sup> made the independent and simultaneous discovery that ketones and aldehydes undergo reductive dimerization to yield olefins on treatment with low-valent titanium reagents. Our own reagent system was prepared by reduction of TiCl<sub>3</sub> with LiAlH<sub>4</sub> in tetrahydrofuran, while that of Mukaiyama was prepared from TiCl<sub>4</sub>/Zn and that of Tyrlik from TiCl<sub>3</sub>/Mg.



R, R' = H. alkyl, or aryl It was clear from the outset that the reactivity of the low-valent titanium reagent depended strongly on its method of preparation. Although our TiCl<sub>3</sub>/LiAlH<sub>4</sub> system was capable of coupling both aromatic and aliphatic substrates, the Mukaiyama and Tyrlik systems appeared limited to aromatic cases. Subsequent work<sup>4</sup> showed that the most reactive and reproducible reagent could be prepared from TiCl<sub>3</sub>/Zn-Cu, and it is with this

material that most couplings are now done.

Three reviews<sup>5-7</sup> and over 100 papers have appeared in the past decade reporting an extraordinary variety of synthetic uses of the titanium-induced carbonylcoupling reaction. A number of highly strained olefins, many unusual aromatic molecules, and a varied selection of complex natural products have all been synthesized by using carbonyl coupling as the key synthetic step. The present review surveys the status of the reaction 15 years after its discovery and draws some general lessons to help guide future work.



John McMurry did his undergraduate work at Harvard and his graduate work at Columbia with Gilbert Stork, receiving his Ph.D. in 1967. After 13 years on the faculty of the University of California at Santa Cruz, he returned east in 1980 as Professor of Chemistry at Cornell University. His research interests center on organic synthesis, including the development of new synthetic methods and the synthesis of unusual molecules, both natural and unnatural.

# II. Reagents Used for Carbonyl Coupling

The ability to couple all manner of ketones and aldehydes to give olefins in high yield is unique to titanium.<sup>8</sup> We ourselves in early unpublished work<sup>9</sup> examined the possibility of using other transition metals (Al, Si, Sc, V, Cr, Mn, Fe, Co, Ni, Cu, Zr, Nb, Mo, Sn, W) to effect the reaction, and Geise has reported<sup>10</sup> attempts at using Mo, Zr, Nb, V, Co, Ni, Cu, Fe, Cr, Zn, Mn, Sn, Al, Hf, and Ta. Only with tungsten is more than a small amount of deoxygenation observed, and then only when diaryl ketones are used as substrates. More recently, Rieke has shown that active uranium prepared by reduction of UCl<sub>4</sub> with lithium naphthalenide is also effective for the coupling of aryl ketones.<sup>11</sup>

The original low-valent titanium reagent system that appeared best for the widest variety of substrates was prepared<sup>1</sup> by reaction of  $TiCl_3$  with  $LiAlH_4$  in the ratio 2:1. Assuming that the full reducing power of  $LiAlH_4$ is used, 4 equiv of hydride should be able to reduce 2 equiv of  $TiCl_3$  to the formal Ti(I) oxidation state or to a mixture of Ti(0) and Ti(II) oxidation states. In fact, the latter mix is probably closer to the truth, and the active coupling species is almost certainly Ti(0) as Geise has shown.<sup>12,13</sup> Owing to problems with reagent reproducibility, other preparations of low-valent titanium soon supplanted the original TiCl<sub>3</sub>/LiAlH<sub>4</sub> procedure. We reported<sup>14</sup> in 1976 that a highly active Ti(0) reagent could be prepared by reduction of TiCl<sub>3</sub> with 3 equiv of potassium in THF, and soon thereafter<sup>15</sup> we introduced the use of TiCl<sub>3</sub>/Li and then TiCl<sub>3</sub>/Zn-Cu as safer alternatives. That Ti(0) is the active species in these reagent preparations is clear both from the stoichiometry of the reduction and from the studies of Geise.

Numerous attempts have been made to improve the ease and reproducibility of low-valent titanium preparation, and the reagent systems TiCl<sub>4</sub>/Zn/pyridine<sup>16</sup> and TiCl<sub>3</sub>/K/graphite<sup>17-19</sup> have been suggested. Our own choice, however, is a modification of the  $TiCl_3/$ Zn-Cu system introduced in 1978. We have recently found that treatment of TiCl<sub>3</sub> with refluxing dimethoxyethane (DME) for several days results in precipitation of a crystalline blue  $TiCl_3(DME)_{1.5}$  solvate that can be reduced with zinc-copper couple to yield an extraordinarily active Ti(0) reagent.<sup>20</sup> Even aging and partially oxidized batches of TiCl<sub>3</sub> that give poor yields of coupled product by other methods give excellent results with this new preparation. Tetraisopropylethylene, for example, was originally reported by Morton<sup>21</sup> to be formed in 12% by reaction of diisopropyl ketone with TiCl<sub>3</sub>/LiAlH<sub>4</sub>, but the new TiCl<sub>3</sub>- $(DME)_{1.5}/Zn-Cu$  procedure gives the product in 94% yield.<sup>22</sup>



III. Mechanism of the Carbonyl-Coupling Reaction

#### A. The Organic Part

The carbonyl-coupling reaction takes place in two steps: (1) reductive dimerization of the starting ketone or aldehyde to form the carbon-carbon bond, and (2) deoxygenation of the 1,2-diolate intermediate to yield the alkene.



The first step is simply a pinacol reaction and is not unique to low-valent titanium. It has been known since  $1859^{23}$  that reducing metals are capable of adding an electron to a ketone or aldehyde carbonyl group, yielding an anion radical that dimerizes. The evidence for this first step in the titanium-induced coupling reaction is straightforward, because the intermediate pinacols can be isolated in high yield if the carbonylcoupling reaction is carried out at 0 °C rather than at solvent reflux temperature. If the isolated pinacols are then subjected to treatment with low-valent titanium at 60 °C, deoxygenation occurs to yield the product alkene.

TABLE I. Titanium-Induced Intramolecular Pinacol Couplings

Entry	Dialdehyde	Pinacol	cis/trans Ratio	Yield (%)
1	Сно	ОН	100 : 0	85
2	сно	ОН	70 : 30	82
3	СНО	ОН	25 : 75	80
4	сно	ОН	25 : 75	75
5	сно	ОН	5 : 95	83
6	СНО	ОН	5 : 95	84
7	сно		<sub>-ОН</sub> 30 : 70	89

In view of the remarkable yields often obtained in titanium-induced carbonyl couplings, it appears that low-valent titanium at 0 °C is actually the reagent of choice for carrying out pinacol reactions. Unfortunately, threo, erythro mixtures of diols are usually obtained from intermolecular reactions, and the factors that control product stereochemistry are not well understood. In fact, it has even been shown by Mundy that the stereochemistry of a pinacol reaction product can differ depending on the nature of the reducing metal.<sup>24</sup> With *intra*molecular reactions of dicarbonyl compounds, however, we have recently found<sup>25</sup> that predictable results are obtained and that high product yields are formed (Table I).

The second step of the carbonyl-coupling reaction to yield alkenes is the more interesting one because it was mechanistically unprecedented at the time of its discovery and is uniquely carried out by low-valent titanium. Although the details of the pinacol deoxygenation process are difficult to study owing to the heterogeneous nature of the reaction mixture, the broad outlines are clear. It has been shown, for example, that the two C-O bonds do not break at the same time and that a mixture of *cis*- and *trans*-alkenes is produced starting from a diol of known stereochemistry. The mixture is not the same starting from the *meso*- and *d*,*l*-5,6-decanediols, however, indicating that the reaction is very close to being concerted.<sup>4</sup>



A further piece of mechanistic information is that the two oxygen atoms of the pinacolate intermediate must

#### **Carbonyi-Coupling Reactions**

be able to approach and bond to a common surface. Thus, the cis isomer of 9,10-decalindiol reacts smoothly with low-valent titanium to yield the expected olefin, but the trans isomer is recovered unchanged after prolonged treatment.<sup>4</sup> The two oxygens of the cis diolate are in close proximity, but the two oxygens of the trans diolate are prevented by the steric bulk of the two rings from touching a common surface.



Yet a third piece of evidence is the demonstration that the two oxygen atoms of the pinacolate intermediate, although they must have a certain proximity, need not be able to bond to a common titanium atom in a five-membered ring. Thus, deoxygenations of the *cis*- and *trans*-camphanediols occur at approximately the same rate even though the oxygen atoms of the trans isomer are too far apart to bond to a common titanium atom.<sup>4</sup> By contrast, Pb(OAc)<sub>4</sub> cleavage of the two diols, a reaction known to require a five-membered intermediate, occurs approximately 10<sup>6</sup> faster on the cis isomer than on the trans isomer.<sup>26</sup>



Taken together, the above evidence leads us to conclude that titanium-induced deoxygenation of pinacolates takes place by coordination of the pinacolate to the surface of a small, zero-valent titanium particle, followed by stepwise cleavage of the C-O bonds with formation of a  $\pi$ -bonded olefin and an oxide-coated titanium surface.<sup>4</sup> The two oxygens must be able sterically to reach the same surface, but not the same titanium atom. This conclusion has been confirmed by extensive ESR spectroscopic work in which signals attributable to the titanium-bound pinacolate intermediate and to the  $\pi$ -bonded olefin product were observed.<sup>13</sup>



#### **B.** The Inorganic Part

Investigations using ESR have shown that, regardless of how it is prepared, the active low-valent coupling

TABLE II. Functional-Group Compatibility of Titanium-Induced Carbonyl Coupling

compatible	semicompatible	inco <b>m</b> patible
acetal	alkyne	allylic alcohol
alconol alkene	amide carboxylic acid (?)	epoxide
alkyl silane	ester	enedione, quinone
amine ether	ketone nitrile (?)	halohydrin $\alpha$ -halo ketone
halide	toluenesulfonate	nitro
suilide vinvl silane		oxime sulfoxide

species is almost certainly Ti(0) particles in finely divided form.<sup>13</sup> When Mg, K, or Li is used as the reductant, ESR signals from Ti(III) and Ti(II) oxidation states gradually disappear as Ti(0) is formed. When LiAlH<sub>4</sub> is used, some Ti(II) remains because of incomplete reduction, but Ti(0) is still presumed to be the active form. The reagent prepared by Zn/Cu reduction of TiCl<sub>3</sub> has not been studied, but there is no reason to believe that it differs from the other four.

The difference in behavior of different low-valent titanium preparations is probably due to the particle size, surface area, physical nature of the surface (edges, corners, holes), and solvent. The solvent is important during the preparation of the reagent because it appears to stabilize the zero-valent particles during their formation. A titanium mirror is formed from TiCl<sub>3</sub>/LiAlH<sub>4</sub> if a weakly coordinating solvent like ether is used, but a fine suspension of black particles is formed in the presence of a more strongly coordinating solvent like THF or DME. Use of still more strongly coordinating solvents like pure pyridine prevents the TiCl<sub>3</sub>/LiAlH<sub>4</sub> reagent from working.<sup>13</sup>

#### IV. Scope of the Carbonyl-Coupling Reaction

#### A. Functional-Group Compatibility

The presence in a substrate of certain easily reducible functional groups is not compatible with the carbonyl-coupling reaction because of the strong reducing power of Ti(0). Although no full study of functionalgroup compatibility has been published,<sup>27</sup> scattered literature results, together with some of our own unpublished work, suggest that functional groups fall into three categories (Table II).

#### 1. Compatible Functional Groups

All of the groups in this category survive the carbonyl-coupling reaction, although some of the more hydrolytically sensitive groups like acetals and silyl ethers may undergo deprotection during workup if precautions are not taken to keep the solution basic. If this causes difficulty, it is sometimes best to carry out the coupling in the presence of a small amount of a tertiary amine (pyridine or triethylamine) and to quench the reaction with aqueous carbonate to assure basicity.

Acetal. There are few reported carbonyl-coupling reactions in the presence of acetal groups, but we have found in unpublished work<sup>28</sup> that THP ether 17 couples in high yield, and Clive has reported<sup>19</sup> coupling of acetal 19 in the course of a compactin synthesis. To prevent acid-catalyzed hydrolysis of an acetal group during workup, it is best to quench the coupling reaction with

aqueous sodium carbonate or aqueous ammonia.



Alcohol. As was the case with acetals, there have been few carbonyl-coupling reactions carried out in the presence of free alcohol groups, although there is no reason to expect difficulty. We have found that saturated alcohols such as cholesterol are completely unaffected by low-valent titanium, even on prolonged exposure at THF reflux. Allylic alcohols, however, undergo a coupling reaction to yield 1,5-dienes.<sup>29</sup>



Alkene. Alkenes are inert to low-valent titanium, and a large number of successful coupling reactions have been carried out in the presence of carbon-carbon double bonds.  $\beta$ -Carotene, for example, can be prepared in high yield from retinal.<sup>1</sup>



It is also important to note that no double-bond isomerization, either positional or geometric, occurs during the coupling reaction. In our synthesis of flexibilene,<sup>30</sup> for example, the three double bonds present in the starting material maintained complete stereochemical integrity during the coupling.



Alkyl silane. Tetraalkylsilanes appear to be inert to the carbonyl-coupling reaction conditions, as indicated by Paquette's successful coupling of formyl(trimethylsilyl)cyclopropane.<sup>31</sup>



Amine. Amines are inert to low-valent titanium, and their addition has even been recommended to improve yields in coupling reactions and to maintain basicity.<sup>32</sup> The amine is usually tertiary,<sup>33</sup> but use of pyrrole **33** with a free N-H group has also been reported.<sup>34</sup> Note that in the second of the following examples, the product obtained in a single step by a *mixed* coupling reaction of propiophenone with the substituted benzophenone 31 is the antitumor agent tamoxifen (32).<sup>36</sup>



Ether. All manner of ethers appear to be compatible with the carbonyl-coupling reaction, and THF and dimethoxyethane are even used as reaction solvents. Other ethers that have proven unaffected by low-valent titanium include benzyl ethers<sup>36</sup> and silyl ethers.<sup>37</sup>

Halide. With the exception of 1,2-dihalides, organohalides are not reduced by low-valent titanium reagents, as demonstrated in the following two cases.<sup>38</sup>



Sulfide. At least one report has appeared in which carbonyl coupling was carried out in the presence of a sulfide.<sup>39</sup> The generality of the process has not been established, but there is no reason to expect problems with other sulfides.



Vinyl silane. We have discovered in unpublished work that keto acyl silanes undergo intramolecular coupling to yield vinyl silanes.<sup>40</sup> The products appear to be stable to reaction conditions, indicating that a coupling reaction in the presence of this functional group should occur without difficulty.



#### 2. Semicompatible Functional Groups

All of the groups in this category react slowly with low-valent titanium, and their survival during a coupling reaction depends on experimental conditions. Coupling reactions that take place in a few hours can often be accomplished without damage to these semicompatible functional groups, but more difficult cou-

#### **Carbonyl-Coupling Reactions**

plings that require extended periods of time can usually not be done. In practice, this means that most intermolecular reactions as well as those intramolecular reactions that form a five- or six-membered ring are feasible. Intramolecular reactions that form eight- or higher-membered-ring sizes need high-dilution conditions, however, and the semicompatible functional groups are sometimes unable to survive the lengthy addition times necessary to achieve this dilution.

Alkyne. We are unaware of any attempted coupling reaction in the presence of a carbon-carbon triple bond. In unpublished work,<sup>41</sup> however, we have found that slow reaction of alkynes occurs to yield trimers (substituted benzenes) and dimers on treatment with Ti(0) for extended periods. 5-Decyne, for example, gives hexabutylbenzene (50%) and 6,7-dibutyl-5,7-dodecadiene on treatment with Ti(0) for 20 h at THF reflux.



Amide. Amides react slowly with low-valent titanium but are compatible with carbonyl coupling unless extended reaction periods are used. The only example we are aware of where this has been carried out is the mixed coupling of aldehydo urethane 46 reported by Castedo.<sup>42</sup>



Carboxylic Acid. We are unaware of any attempts at carbonyl coupling in the presence of a carboxylic acid group. Geise has shown<sup>27</sup> that carboxylic acids and their salts react slowly with low-valent titanium (TiCl<sub>3</sub>/ LiAlH<sub>4</sub>), but we would expect them to survive all but extended reaction periods.

*Ester.* Numerous successful dicarbonyl-coupling reactions have been carried out in the presence of an ester group. As indicated previously, however, the reaction is successful only when it is intermolecular<sup>43,44</sup> or when it involves formation of a five- or six-membered ring.<sup>45-47</sup>



Ketone. It seems paradoxical to say that a ketone can survive the ketone-coupling reaction, yet this is exactly what can happen if intramolecular cyclization leading to a five- or six-membered ring occurs rapidly enough so that the reaction can be quenched before competing intermolecular dimerization takes place. Two such instances have been reported, one by Ziegler in the context of an estrone total synthesis ( $52 \rightarrow 53$ ),<sup>48</sup> and the other by Burnell in the context of a khusimone synthesis ( $54 \rightarrow 55$ ).<sup>49</sup> The khusimone synthesis is particularly interesting because it implies that a six-membered ring forms more easily than a three-membered ring.



*Nitrile.* As with carboxylic acids, we are unaware of any attempted carbonyl couplings in the presence of nitrile groups. Nitriles react slowly with low-valent titanium<sup>27</sup> but should survive exposures of moderate length.

Toluenesulfonate. One example has been reported in which an intermolecular carbonyl coupling was achieved in the presence of a tosylate group  $(56 \rightarrow 57)$ .<sup>43</sup> We would expect the reaction to be general in light of our own experience on the difficulty of reducing sulfones with low-valent titanium.



#### 3. Incompatible Functional Groups

All of the groups in this category undergo rapid reduction on treatment with low-valent titanium-so rapid that they cannot survive carbonyl coupling. Indeed, low-valent titanium may well be the reagent of choice for reducing some of these groups in a preparative sense.<sup>50</sup> Thus, allylic and benzylic alcohols are rapidly coupled to yield 1,5-hexadienes and bibenzyls,<sup>29</sup> 1,2-diols (pinacols) are reduced to yield alkenes,<sup>4</sup> epoxides are deoxygenated to yield alkenes,<sup>51</sup> enediones and quinones are reduced to yield saturated diketones and hydroquinones,<sup>52</sup> halohydrins are reduced to yield alkenes,<sup>53</sup>  $\alpha$ -halo ketones are dehalogenated to yield ketones,<sup>54</sup> aromatic nitro compounds are reduced to yield anilines,<sup>55</sup> aliphatic nitro compounds are reduced to yield imines,<sup>56</sup> oximes are reduced to yield imines,<sup>57</sup> and sulfoxides are reduced to yield sulfides.<sup>58</sup>

#### **B.** Intramolecular Carbonyl Couplings

The real value of the carbonyl-coupling reaction for organic synthesis lies in the fact that intramolecular couplings of dicarbonyl compounds take place in good yield to give cycloalkenes.<sup>4,59</sup> Rings of all sizes from 3 through 20 have been formed, and there is no reason to suspect that still larger rings would not form smoothly. Numerous specific examples are shown later in Tables IV and V.



A comparison of cyclization yields for the titaniuminduced carbonyl-coupling reaction versus several other well-known methods is shown in Figure 1. Although the exact yields shown in the figure do not necessarily represent optimized conditions, the trends in the data are probably real (the numbers for titanium-induced cyclizations represent work done 10 years ago<sup>4</sup> and could be substantially improved today with the TiCl<sub>3</sub>-(DME)<sub>1.5</sub>/Zn-Cu procedure;<sup>20</sup> the numbers for acyloin, Dieckmann, and Thorpe-Ziegler reactions are taken from Bloomfield's literature review<sup>60</sup>). We have found on many occasions that titanium-induced dicarbonyl-coupling reactions give uniformly good results regardless of the size of the ring being formed. The Thorpe-Ziegler and Dieckmann reactions, by contrast, show a large decline in yield for medium-size rings, and the acyloin condensation shows a somewhat smaller decline, even when carried out in the presence of chlorotrimethyl-silane.<sup>61</sup>

It should be noted that titanium-induced dicarbonyl couplings, like other cyclization reactions to form medium and large rings, require high dilution in order to achieve intramolecular cyclization rather than intermolecular polymerization. In practice, this is achieved by first preparing a slurry of the Ti(0) reagent and then adding a solution of the dicarbonyl compound over a 30-40-h period via a syringe pump. Full experimental details of an optimized procedure have been published.<sup>20</sup>

#### C. Mixed Coupling Reactions

The intermolecular carbonyl-coupling reaction is usually limited to the preparation of symmetrical olefins by dimerization of a ketone or aldehyde. When a mixture of two different carbonyl compounds is allowed to react with Ti(0), a roughly statistical mixture of the possible alkene coupling products is normally obtained.<sup>62</sup> For synthetic purposes, such mixed couplings are generally useful only if one component is used in excess and if the products are easily separable. For example, reaction of 3-cholestanone with a fourfold excess of acetone gives the mixed product, isopropylidenecholestane (59), in 54% yield and the symmetrical product, cholestanylidenecholestane (60), in 29% yield.<sup>62</sup> 2,3-Dimethyl-2-butene is also formed, presumably, but is lost during workup.



Although the yields are moderate, the simplicity of the mixed coupling procedure recommends itself when only small quantities of the mixed product are needed. For example, mixed coupling of acetone with chiral  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated ketones like (R)-(-)-(4-methylcyclohexylidene)acetone (61) has been used by Walborsky to prepare diene 62, necessary for a chiroptical study.<sup>63</sup>



Another example of a mixed carbonyl-coupling reaction was used recently by Paquette in a synthesis of the sesquiterpene vetispirene.<sup>64</sup> Reaction of equimolar amounts of 2,6-dimethyl-2-cyclohexenone and formyl-(trimethylsilyl)cyclopropane with Ti(0) gave the mixed coupled product (65) in 60% yield. It is not obvious why the mixed product should be favored so strongly over the symmetrical products in this case.



The one general exception to the rule that mixed coupling reactions give mixtures of products occurs when one of the carbonyl partners is a diaryl ketone.<sup>62</sup> Coupling of a diaryl ketone with an equimolar amount of any ketone or aldehyde yields predominantly the mixed coupled product.



This mixed coupling reaction has been used as the key step in the synthesis of the antitumor agent tamoxifen (73) and several of its analogues.<sup>35,65</sup>



The selective mixed coupling reaction of diaryl ketones can best be accounted for by a change in mechanism of the carbon-carbon bond-forming step from radical to polar. It is known that the *second* reduction potential of diaryl ketones is less negative than the first reduction potential of normal saturated ketones.<sup>66</sup> In other words, a diaryl ketone accepts two electrons to yield a dianion more easily than a normal saturated ketone accepts a single electron to yield an anion radical. If dianion formation is rapid and quantitative and if the dianion then adds to the saturated ketone by a nucleophilic addition mechanism, the mixed pinacol product will be produced selectively.



### V. Uses of the Carbonyl-Coupling Reaction

#### A. Synthesis of Strained Olefins

One of the earliest uses of the carbonyl-coupling reaction in synthesis was for the preparation of strained olefins (Table III). The large thermodynamic driving force provided by the formation of titanium-oxygen bonds makes it possible to build a large amount of strain into the product during a carbonyl-coupling reaction, thereby allowing the synthesis of sterically hindered tetrasubstituted double bonds.

The examples in Table III show that the carbonylcoupling reaction provides a remarkably easy synthesis of some highly strained molecules. Lenoir's coupling Carbonyl-Coupling Reactions



Figure 1. A yield comparison of several common methods of cyclization.

TABLE III. Synthesis of St.	rained Olefin	8
-----------------------------	---------------	---



of ethyladamantanone (entry 10) represents the synthesis of a "tied-back" diisopropyl-di-*tert*-butylethylene, and entries 7 and 8 represent syntheses of tied-back tetra-*tert*-butylethylenes. Unfortunately, the synthesis



Figure 2. Synthesis of cycloalkanones by keto ester coupling.<sup>122</sup>

of tetra-*tert*-butylethylene itself has been unsuccessful thus far. Attempted coupling of di-*tert*-butyl ketone with Ti(0), both in our own laboratories and in that of others, has provided tantalizing glimpses of an impure dimeric hydrocarbon but has not yielded pure isolable product.



#### **B.** Synthesis of Unusual Molecules

A second general use of the carbonyl-coupling reaction has been for the synthesis of molecules with unusual structures. The ability of the coupling reaction to form medium and large rings in high yield, while building in considerable strain at the same time, has led to the use of the reaction in a wide variety of circumstances (Table IV). Noteworthy among the many remarkable achievements recorded are Marshall's synthesis of the betweenanenes (entry 1), Yamamoto's synthesis of [7]circulene (entry 11), Vogel's synthesis of cyclic tetrapyrroles (entry 20), and Shimizu's synthesis of the ferrocene cyclophanes (entries 22-24).

The Vogel syntheses shown in entries 20 and 21 are particularly interesting because they involve *two* coupling reactions, the first intermolecular and the second intramolecular. Since steric constraints prevent the two carbonyl groups in the dipyrrole or difuran substrates from reacting with each other, it is only after an initial dimerization that cyclization can occur. The ferrocene syntheses in entries 22–24 are also of particular interest because they demonstrate that unusual organometallic functionality is compatible with low-valent titanium reactions. Finally, the remarkable reaction reported in entry 25 evidently involves coupling at the ortho position of an aromatic ring, rather than direct carbonyl coupling. The direct coupling is strongly hindered for steric reasons.

We ourselves have made use of the carbonyl-coupling reaction in the synthesis of an unusual series of cyclic polyenes (entries 26–27), in the synthesis of *in*-bicyclo[4.4.4]tetradecene (entry 28), and in the synthesis of a crossed diene (entry 29). The triene shown in entry 26 was prepared in the hope that the three double bonds might be close enough to show a hyperconjugative interaction via p-orbital overlap in the center of the molecule. Although photoelectron spectroscopy revealed little interaction among orbitals, a more thorough



analysis of the situation using ab initio calculations has indicated that both through-bond and through-space interactions are in fact sizable, but that the two effects oppose one another.<sup>104</sup>

The corresponding tetraene shown in entry 27 was prepared as a potential tetradentate ligand with the

idea that it might be able to complex and sequester a metal atom or ion in its cavity. In fact, reaction of the tetraene with  $AgBF_4$  yields stable silver/olefin complex 77, shown by X-ray crystallography to have the  $Ag^+$  ion in the center. This substance, the first square-planar d<sup>10</sup> organometallic complex known, is stable to heat,

Ref.

116

Natural Product

#### TABLE V. Synthesis of Natural Products





light, and hydroxylic solvents that would instantly decompose any normal silver/olefin complex. It is, however, decomposed by reducing agents to yield silver metal and recovered tetraene.<sup>105</sup>



in-Bicyclo[4.4.4]tetradecene (78), prepared by the keto aldehyde carbonyl-coupling reaction shown in entry 28, was synthesized as a precursor to in,out-bicyclo[4.4.4]tetradecane (79) and to the in-bicyclo-[4.4.4]-1-tetradecyl cation (80). This extraordinary cation, the first stable organic substance to contain a three-center, two-electron C-H-C bond, has yielded some fascinating chemistry. Its preparation by any method other than carbonyl coupling would probably be most difficult.



The final entry in Table IV records an attempted synthesis of a bicyclododecadiene (82) whose two double bonds are rigidly held close (2.32 Å calculated), yet perpendicular. Even though the molecule is highly strained (calculated  $\Delta H_{\rm f} = 67.6$  kcal/mol) carbonyl coupling of the appropriate diketone 81 takes place in good yield to provide a cyclized diene product. Unfortunately, the desired product 82 undergoes rapid Cope rearrangement so that only rearranged diene 83 can be isolated.



#### C. Synthesis of Natural Products

The carbonyl-coupling reaction is proving increasingly valuable in natural-product synthesis, as shown by the more than 20 exaples collected in Table V. The first two entries in the table make use of the intermolecular coupling of a monocarbonyl precursor, but most of couplings are intramolecular. Weedon's hirsutene synthesis (entry 5) is even "doubly intramolecular" since two rings are formed at the same time from a cyclooctanedione. Both oxygenated and nonoxygenated products are represented in the table.

A variety of different ring sizes are obtained by the coupling procedure, illustrating the power and generality of the method. Five-membered rings are formed in the hirsutene (entry 5) and strigol (entry 17) syntheses; six-membered rings are formed in the isokhusimone (entry 4), compactin (entry 18), and estrone (entry 19) syntheses; eight-membered rings are formed in the taxane (entry 13), fusicoccane (entry 15), and ceroplastol (entry 16) syntheses; ten-membered rings are formed in the helminthogermacrene (entry 7), bicyclogermacrene (entry 8), and lepidozene (entry 9) syntheses; an eleven-membered ring is formed in the humulene synthesis (entry 10); a twelve-membered ring is formed in the verticillene (entry 6) synthesis; fourteen-membered rings are formed in the casbene (entry 11), cannithrene II (entry 20), and sarcophytol B (entry 21) syntheses; and a fifteen-membered ring is formed in the flexibilene (entry 12) synthesis.

Our own efforts are presently concentrated on using the carbonyl-coupling reaction in the synthesis of complex macrocyclic natural products such as the cembranoid diterpenes.<sup>121</sup> Both their biological activity—many members of this large class of natural products have been found to be antitumor agents—and their macrocyclic structure make cembranoids natural targets for synthesis by a carbonyl-coupling route. Our recent synthesis of sarcophytol B (Table V, entry 21) is a simple example, but we are currently pursuing the synthesis of more complex oxygenated cembranoids such as crassin (85). One possibility is to use a lowtemperature carbonyl coupling of a lactone keto aldehyde such as 84 to form a macrocyclic ring, followed by further manipulations as necessary. The pinacol that results either can be used as such (in a crassin synthesis) or can be deoxygenated by any of several mild methods to yield an alkene that can be converted into other cembranoids.



The notion of using a two-step procedure that proceeds through an isolable pinacol, rather than a one-step procedure that gives an alkene directly, is one that should greatly extend the utility of the carbonyl-coupling reaction. Compounds like lactone keto aldehyde 84 that have a "semicompatible" functional group are stable and can be cyclized with a low-temperature, titanium-induced pinacol coupling but are unstable and would be destroyed at higher temperatures.

#### VI. Keto Ester Couplings

Although most intramolecular carbonyl-coupling reactions involve diketone, dialdehyde, or keto aldehyde substrates, we showed several years ago that the reaction could be extended to keto *esters*.<sup>122</sup> The result is a method of cycloalkanone synthesis.



As shown by the results plotted in Figure 2, the reaction works particularly well for the formation of five-, six-, and seven-membered rings, but other ring sizes are formed in lower yields. We have also found that a significant amount of work is often needed to optimize each individual case for medium and large rings, further decreasing the synthetic potential of the method. Our best results, however, are usually obtained with a lowvalent titanium reagent prepared by reduction of TiCl<sub>3</sub> with LiAlH<sub>4</sub> in the presence of triethylamine. For reasons not presently understood, neither the TiCl<sub>3</sub>/ Zn-Cu reagent nor the TiCl<sub>3</sub>(DME)<sub>1.5</sub>/Zn-Cu reagent works as well.

Thus far, the keto ester coupling reaction has been used in syntheses of capnellene  $(88)^{123}$  and isocaryophyllene (91).<sup>124</sup> The capnellene synthesis used the reaction to form a cyclopentanone ring, and the isocaryophyllene synthesis formed a cyclononenone ring.



The isocaryophyllene synthesis represents the only case noted to date in which olefin isomerization occurs during a carbonyl-coupling reaction. Since a control experiment showed that the E isomer of ketone 90 is

#### Carbonyl-Coupling Reactions

stable to low-valent titanium, the double-bond isomerization must be occurring while the substrate is still bonded to the titanium reagent and before the coupling reaction is complete. It should also be noted that the isocarvophyllene synthesis required extensive optimization to achieve the 38% yield figure, demonstrating again the difficulties encountered when other than five-, six-, and seven-membered rings are prepared by keto ester coupling.

### VII. Conclusions

The carbonyl-coupling reaction has evolved over the past 15 years into a general and powerful method of carbon-carbon bond formation. Although plagued in its early years by quality-control difficulties with the available TiCl<sub>3</sub> reagent, this problem has been overcome, and high product yields are now routinely obtained. That the reaction is of great value in synthetic ventures of many kinds, from strained olefins to unusual molecules to natural products, has been amply demonstrated by the many examples presented in this review. The reaction can be used in both an inter- and an intramolecular manner, but it is clear that its major importance is for the formation of medium- and large-ring cycloalkenes.

The largest current drawback of the reaction is its intolerance of other easily reduced functional groups. Even this problem is now being overcome with the recent development of low-temperature coupling methods, and we look forward to increasing use of the titanium-induced, carbonyl-coupling reaction in synthesis.

#### References

- (1) McMurry, J. E.; Fleming, M. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 4708-4709.
- (2) Mukaiyama, T.; Sato, T.; Hanna, J. Chem. Lett. 1973, 1041-1044.
- (3)Tyrlik, S.: Wolochowicz, I. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1973, 2147-2148.
- (4) McMurry, J. E.; Fleming, M. P.; Kees, K. L.; Krepski, L. R. J. Org. Chem. 1978, 43, 3255-3266.
  (5) McMurry, J. E. Acc. Chem. Res. 1983, 16, 405-411.
  (6) Welzel, P. Nachr. Chem. Tech. Lab. 1983, 31, 814-816.
  (7) Lai, Y.-H. Org. Prep. Proced. 1980, 12, 361-391.

- (1) Lai, 1.A. O'g. 1762. 1762. 1380, 12, 301-351.
  (8) A review of carbonyl-coupling reactions using transition metals has recently appeared: Kahn, B. E.; Rieke, R. D. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88, 733-745.
  (9) McMurry, J. E.; Fleming, M. P., unpublished results.
  (10) Dams, R.; Malinowski, M.; Geise, H. J. Bull. Soc. Chim.
- Belges 1982, 91, 149–152.
  (11) Kahn, B. E.; Rieke, R. D. Organometallics 1988, 7, 463.
  (12) Dams, R.; Malinowski, M.; Geise, H. J. Bull. Soc. Chim.
- Belges 1981, 90, 1141-1152 (13) Dams, R.; Malinowski, M.; Westdorp, I.; Geise, H. J. J. Org.
- Chem. 1982, 47, 248-259. (14) McMurry, J. E.; Fleming, M. P. J. Org. Chem. 1976, 41,
- 896-897. (15) McMurry, J. E.; Krepski, L. R. J. Org. Chem. 1976, 41,
- 3929-3930.
- Lenoir, D. Synthesis 1977, 553 (16)
- (17) Boldrini, G. P.; Savoia, D.; Tagliavini, E.; Trombini, C.; Umani-Ronchi, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1985, 280, 307-312.
- (18) Fürstner, A.; Weidmann, H. Synthesis 1987, 1071.
  (19) Clive, D. L. J.; Murthy, K. S. K.; Wee, A. G. H.; Prasad, J. S.; da Silva, G. V. J.; Majewski, M.; Anderson, P. C.; Haugen, R. D.; Heerze, L. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 6914–6916.
  (20) McMurry, J. E.; Lectka, T.; Rico, J. G. J. Org. Chem., in
- ress (21) Bomse, D. S.; Morton, T. H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1975, 781-785.

- (22) Lectka, T. C.; McMurry, J. E., unpublished results.
  (23) Fittig, R. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1859, 110, 23.
  (24) (a) Mundy, B. P.; Srinivasa, R.; Kim, Y.; Dolph, T.; Warnet, R. J. J. Org. Chem. 1982, 47, 1657–1661. (b) Mundy, B. P.; Bruss, D. R.; Kim, Y.; Larsen, R. D.; Warnet, R. J. Tetrahe-January and Long 2002 20021. dron Lett. 1985, 26, 3927-3931.

- (25) McMurry, J. E.; Rico, J. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 1169–1172, 1173–1176.
- (26) Angyal, S. J.; Young, R. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1959, 81, 5467-5472.
- (27) A brief study has been reported on the reaction of some common functional groups with TiCl<sub>3</sub>/LiAlH<sub>4</sub>: Dams, R.; Malinowski, M.; Geise, H. J. Recl. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas 1982, 101, 112-114.
- McMurry, J. E.; Matz, J. R., unpublished results.
   McMurry, J. E.; Silvestri, M. J. Org. Chem. 1975, 40, 2687-2688.
- (30) (a) McMurry, J. E.; Matz, J. R.; Kees, K. L.; Bock, P. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1982, 23, 1777-1780. (b) McMurry, J. E.; Matz, J. R.; Kees, K. L. Tetrahedron 1987, 43, 5489-5498.
   (31) Paquette, L. A.; Wells, G. J.; Wickham, G. J. Org. Chem.
- 1984, 49, 3618-3621.
- (32) Ishida, A.; Mukaiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 1976, 1127-1130.
- (33) Newkome, G. R.; Roper, J. M. J. Org. Chem. 1979, 44, 502 - 505(34) Vogel, E.; Köcher, M.; Schmickler, H.; Lex, J. Angew. Chem.,
- Int. Ed. Engl. 1986, 25, 257–259.
   (35) Coe, P. L.; Scriven, C. E. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1986,
- 475-477.
- (36) Castedo, L.; Saa, J. M.; Suau, R.; Tojo, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983, 24, 5419-5420.
- (37) Pattenden, G.; Robertson, G. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1986, 27, 399 - 402
- (38) Richardson, W. H. Synth. Commun. 1981, 11, 895-899.
  (39) Nakayama, J.; Machida, H.; Saito, R.; Hoshino, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985, 26, 1981-1982.
- (40)McMurry, J. E.; Kolaczkowski, L., unpublished results.
- (41) McMurry, J. E.; Kees, K. L., unpublished results.
  (42) Seijas, J. A.; deLera, A. R.; Villaverde, M. C.; Castedo, L. J.
- Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 839–840. (43) Castedo, L.; Saa, J. M.; Suau, R.; Tojo, G. J. Org. Chem. 1981,
- 46, 42**9**2–4294.
- (44) Witiak, D. T.; Kamat, P. L.; Allison, D. L.; Liebowitz, S. M.; Glaser, R.; Holliday, J. E.; Moeschberger, M. L.; Schaller, J. P. J. Med. Chem. 1983, 26, 1679–1686.
- (45) Berlage, U.; Schmidt, J.; Peters, U.; Welzel, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 3091-3094.
  (46) Takeshita, H.; Hatsui, T.; Kato, N.; Masuda, T.; Tagoshi, H.
- Chem. Lett. 1982, 1153-1156.
- (17) SHIUBABRI, IVI.; IOFISAWA, Y.; Ikegami, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983, 24, 3493-3496.
  (48) Ziegler, F. E.; Lim, H. J. Org. Chem. 1982, 47, 5229-5230.
  (49) Wu, Y.-J.; Burnell, D. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 4369-4372.
- (50) For a review of the uses of low-valent titanium as a reducing (50) For a review of the uses of low-valent titanium as a reducing agent in organic synthesis, see: McMurry, J. E. Acc. Chem. Res. 1974, 7, 281–286.
  (51) McMurry, J. E.; Fleming, M. P. J. Org. Chem. 1975, 40, 2555.
  (52) Blaszczak, L. C.; McMurry, J. E. J. Org. Chem. 1974, 39, 258.
  (53) McMurry, J. E.; Hoz, T. J. Org. Chem. 1975, 40, 3797–3798.
  (54) Ho, T.-L.; Wong, C. M. Synth. Commun. 1973, 3, 237.
  (55) Knecht, E.; Hibbert, E. Chem. Ber. 1903, 36, 166.
  (56) McMurry, J. E.; Malton J. J. Org. Chem. 1973, 38.

- (56) McMurry, J. E.; Melton, J. J. Org. Chem. 1973, 38, 4367-4373.
- (57) Timms, G. H.; Wildsmith, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 1971,
- (5) Ho, T.-L.; Wong, C. M. Synth. Commun. 1973, 3, 37.
  (59) McMurry, J. E.; Kees, K. L. J. Org. Chem. 1977, 42, 2655-2656.
- The data in Figure 1 are adapted from: Bloomfield, J. J.; Owsley, D. C.; Ainsworth, C.; Robertson, R. E. J. Org. Chem. 1975, 40, 393-402. (60)
- (61) For a review of the acyloin condensation, see: Bloomfield, J. J.; Nelke, J. M. Org. React. 1976, 23, 259-403.
  (62) McMurry, J. E.; Krepski, L. R. J. Org. Chem. 1976, 41,
- 3929-3930.
- (63) Reddy, S. M.; Duraisamy, M.; Walborsky, H. M. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 2361-2366.
  (64) Paquette, L. A.; Yan, T.-H.; Wells, G. J. J. Org. Chem. 1984, Development of the second s
- (65) Shani, J.; Grazit, A.; Livshitz, T.; Biran, S. J. Med. Chem. 1985, 28, 1504.
  (66) Exact Mathematical Structure and Stru
- (66) For a table of reduction potentials of organic substances, see:
- Meites, L. Polarographic Techniques, 2nd ed.; Wiley-Inter-science: New York, 1965.
- (67) Langler, R. F.; Tidwell, T. T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1977, 777–780.
- (68) Olah, G. A.; Surya Prakash, G. K. J. Org. Chem. 1977, 42, 580-582.
- (69) Lenoir, D. Chem. Ber. 1978, 111, 411-414.
   (70) Lenoir, D.; Malwitz, D.; Meyer, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1984, 25, 2965-2968.
- (71) Willem, R.; Pepermans, H.; Hallenga, K.; Gielen, M.; Dams, R.; Geise, H. J. J. Org. Chem. 1983, 48, 1890–1898.
  (72) Lenoir, D.; Lemmen, P. Chem. Ber. 1980, 113, 3112–3119.

- 1524 Chemical Reviews, 1989, Vol. 89, No. 7
- Böhrer, G.; Knorr, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1984, 25, 3675-3678.
- (74) Wenck, H.; deMeijere, A.; Gerson, F.; Gleiter, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1986, 25, 335-336. (75) Olah, G. A.; Surya Prakash, G. K.; Liang, G. Synthesis 1976,
- 318.
- (76) Lenoir, D.; Burghard, H. J. Chem. Res. (S) 1980, 396 (77) (a) Marshall, J. A.; Flynn, K. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 723-730. (b) For a review of betweenanene synthesis, see: Marshall, J. A. Acc. Chem. Res. 1980, 13, 213-218.
   (78) Feringa, B.; Wynberg, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99,
- 602 603
- (79) Tirado-Rives, J.; Oliver, M. A.; Fronzek, F. R.; Gandour, R. D. J. Org. Chem. 1984, 49, 1627–1634. (80) Paquette, L. A.; Dressel, J.; Pansegrau, P. D. Tetrahedron
- Lett. 1987, 28, 4965–4968
- (81) Vogel, E.; Püttmann, W.; Duchatsch, W.; Schieb, T.; Schmickler, H.; Lex, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1986, 25, 720-723
- (82)Yamamoto, K.; Ojima, J.; Morita, N.; Asao, T. Bull. Chem.
- (82) Yamamoto, K.; Ojima, J.; Morita, N.; Asao, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1988, 61, 1281-1283.
  (83) Yamamoto, K.; Kuroda, S.; Shibutami, M.; Yoneyama, Y.; Ojima, J.; Fujita, S.; Ejiri, E.; Yanigihara, K. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1988, 395-400.
  (84) Vogel, E.; Nuemann, B.; Klug, W.; Schmickler, H.; Lex, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1985, 24, 1046-1048.
  (85) Brudermüller, M.; Musso, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1982, 27 208-209
- 1988, 27, 298-299.
- (86) (a) Yamamoto, K.; Harada, T.; Nakazaki, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 7171-7172. (b) Yamamoto, K.; Harada, T.; Okamoto, Y.; Chikamatsu, H.; Nakazaki, M.; Kai, Y.; Nakao, T.; Tanaka, M.; Harada, S.; Kasai, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 3578-3584.
- (87) Timberlake, J. W.; Jun, Y. M. J. Org. Chem. 1979, 44, 4729-4731.
- (88) Ojima, J.; Yamamoto, K.; Kato, T.; Wada, K.; Yoneyama, Y.; Ejiri, E. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1986, 59, 2209-2215.
  (89) Kasahara, K.; Izumi, T.; Shimizu, I.; Satou, M.; Katou, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1982, 55, 2434-2440.
  (20) F. L. D. D. D. D. S. K. J. C. M. S. C. J. 1990.
- (90) Eaton, P. E.; Jobe, P. G.; Nyi, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 6636-6638.

- (91) Hagenbruch, B.; Hünig, S. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1984, 340-353.
  (92) Janssen, J.; Lüttke, W. Chem. Ber. 1982, 115, 1234-1243.
  (93) Schwager, H.; Wilke, G. Chem. Ber. 1987, 120, 79-80.
  (94) Vogel, E.; Balci, M.; Pramod, K.; Koch, P.; Lex, J.; Ermer, O. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1987, 26, 928-931 and references therein.
- (95) Vogel, E.; Sicken, M.; Röhrig, P.; Schmickler, H.; Lex, J.; Ermer, O. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1988, 27, 411-414.
   (96) Kasahara, A.; Izumi, T.; Schimizu, I. Chem. Lett. 1979,
- 1119–1122
- (97) Shimizu, I.; Umezawa, H.; Kanno, T.; Izumi, T.; Kasahara, A. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1983, 56, 2023-2028.
  (98) Shimizu, I.; Kamei, Y.; Tezuka, T.; Izumi, T.; Kasahara, A. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1983, 56, 192-198.

- (99) Agranat, I.; Suissa, M. R.; Cohen, S.; Isaksson, R.; Sandstrom, J.; Dale, J.; Grace, D. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 381-382
- (100) (a) McMurry, J. E.; Haley, G. J.; Matz, J. R.; Clardy, J. C.; Van Duyne, G.; Gleiter, R.; Schäfer, W.; White, D. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 5018-5019. (b) McMurry, J. E.; Haley, G. J.; Matz, J. R.; Clardy, J. C.; Van Duyne, G.; Gleiter, R.; Schäfer, W.; White, D. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2020, 2020. 2932-2938.
- (101) McMurry, J. E.; Haley, G. J.; Matz, J. R.; Clardy, J. C.; Mitchell, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 515.
   (102) McMurry, J. E.; Hodge, C. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106,
- (103) McMurry, J. E.; Swenson, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 3209-3212 (104) Falcetta, M. F.; Jordan, K. D.; McMurry, J. E.; Paddon-Row,
- M. N., submitted for publication.

- M. N., submitted for publication.
  (105) McMurry, J. E.; Haley, G. J., unpublished results.
  (106) Gapski, G.; Kini, A.; Liu, R. S. H. Chem. Lett. 1978, 803-804.
  (107) Ishida, A.; Mukaiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 1976, 1127-1130.
  (108) Jung, M. E.; Liu, C.-Y. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 5446-5447.
  (109) Mandai, T.; Yamaguchi, H.; Nishikawa, K.; Kawada, M.; Otera, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1981, 22, 763-764.
  (110) (a) Disanayaka, B. W.; Weedon, A. C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 1282. (b) Disanayaka, B. W.; Weedon, A. C. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 2905-2910.
  (111) Jackson, C. B.: Pattenden, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985, 26
- (111) Jackson, C. B.; Pattenden, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985, 26, 3393-3396.
- (112) McMurry, J. E.; Kocovsky, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985, 26, 171-2172
- (113) McMurry, J. E.; Bosch, G. K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985, 26, 2167-2170.
- (114) McMurry, J. E.; Bosch, G. K. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 4885-4893.
- (115) McMurry, J. E.; Matz, J. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1982, 23, 2723-2724.
- (116) Kende, A. S.; Johnson, S.; Sanfilippo, P.; Hodges, J. C.; Jun-(110) Refley, R. S., Schnisch, S., Sammpor, F., Hodges, J. C., Juffelm, L. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 3513–3515.
   (117) Begley, M. J.; Pattenden, G.; Robertson, G. M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1988, 1085–1094.
   (118) Kato, N.; Nakanishi, K.; Takeshita, H. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1000, 10000, 1000, 1000, 1000, 1000, 1000, 1000, 1000, 1000, 1000, 1000

- (110) Raw, N., Nakamsin, R., Takeshia, H. But. Chem. Soc. 5ph. 1986, 59, 1109–1123.
  (119) Kato, N.; Kataoka, H.; Ohbuchi, S.; Tanaka, S.; Takeshita, H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 354–356.
  (120) Ben, I.; Castedo, L.; Saa, J. M.; Seijas, J. A.; Suau, R.; Tojo, G. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 2236–2240.
- (121) For a recent review of cembranoid synthesis, see: Tius, M.
- A. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88, 719-732.
- (122) McMurry, J. E.; Miller, D. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 1660.
- (123) Iyoda, M.; Kushida, T.; Kitami, S.; Oda, M. J. Chem. Soc., Čhem. Commun. 1987, 1607.
- (124) McMurry, J. E.; Miller, D. D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983, 24, 1885–1888.